## Ministry of Health of Ukraine Bogomolets National Medical University PHARMACEUTICAL FACULTY Department of Clinical Pharmacology and Clinical Pharmacy

# GRADUATE MASTER'S THESIS Topic: **«Pregnancy-Related Hypertension: Incidence, Outcomes»**

Completed: 5th year higher education applicant, group 7601Fa direction of training (specialty) 226 Pharmacy, pharmaceutical faculty Full-time Rabia Khalif Professor:

Cand. Sc., Assoc. Prof. Polovynka V.O. Reviewer: Chair of department of clinical pharmacology and internal medicine Kharkiv National Medical University Doctor Sc., Pofessor Knyazkova I. I.

#### CONTENTS

	CONTENTS	2
	LIST OF CONDITIONAL ABBREVIATIONS	3
	INTRODUCTION	4
SECTION 1	LITERATURE	
	REVIEW	5
1.1	Definition, epidemiology, classification of arterial hypertension.	
	Cardiovascular risk factors for hypertension	
		7
1.2	Hypertension of pregnant women. Classification, risk control	
		13
1.3	Diagnosis and classification of hypertensive disorders during pregnancy	
		15
1.4	Laboratory research	19
1.5	Drug therapy of hypertensive disorders during pregnancy	
		22
SECTION 2	MATERIALS AND METHODS OF RESEARCH	29
2.1	Clinical characteristics of patients with hypertension	
		29
SECTION 3	RESULTS OF OWN RESEARCH	30
3.1	Analysis of the risks of developing hypertension in pregnant women	
		32
3.2.	Risks of pregnant women with concomitant pathology of the urinary,	
	hepatobiliary system and pathologies of the gastrointestinal tract	
		33
3.3	Drug pharmacotherapy of arterial hypertension in pregnant women,	
	combinations and possible interactions	35
	CONCLUSIONS	45
	PRACTICAL RECOMMENDATIONS	53
	REFERENCES	54

## LIST OF CONDITIONAL ABBREVIATIONS

AH	<ul> <li>hypertension;</li> </ul>
ACE	<ul> <li>angiotensin-converting enzyme;</li> </ul>
ARB	- angiotensin II receptor blockers
CCD	- Calcium channels blocker;
CHD	<ul> <li>– coronary heart disease;</li> </ul>
CKD	<ul> <li>– chronic kidney disease;</li> </ul>
CVD	<ul> <li>– cardiovascular diseases;</li> </ul>
BP	- blood pressure;
BB	$-\beta$ - blocker;
BMI	- body mass index;
DBP	<ul> <li>diastolic blood pressure;</li> </ul>
DM	– diabetes;
DOAC	- (direct oral anticoagulant);
GWAS	- genome-wide association studies
HR	– heart rate;
RF	– risk factors;
SBP	<ul> <li>systolic blood pressure;</li> </ul>

#### **INTRODUCTION**

Actuality of theme. Changes related to pregnancy affect the entire female body. The cardiovascular system is no exception. It is known that during pregnancy new requirements are added to the cardiovascular system associated with weight gain of women, uterus, placenta, fetal growth, changes in uteroplacental circulation [1, 11]. Vessels during pregnancy are affected by changes in hormonal background, central nervous system tone, increased circulating blood volume, increased diaphragm height, increased intra-abdominal pressure and changes in heart position [10, 19]. All efforts of the body are aimed at improving blood circulation in the uterus and placenta. Therefore, it is not surprising that the restructuring of the mother's body can lead to the development of such pathologies as preeclampsia or late preeclampsia, which are manifested by increased blood pressure (BP), edema and the presence of protein in the urine [6, 17, 20]. Preeclampsia can become a separate disease or develop on the background of pre-existing hypertension (AH).

Hypertension is a serious threat to women and fetuses, because there is an additional burden on all organs and systems [3]. The main complications of pregnancy with blood pressure are the risk of miscarriage (27%), placental insufficiency, preeclampsia, premature detachment of the normally located placenta, multiorgan failure and disseminated intravascular coagulation syndrome [7, 33, 37]. Subsequently, the risk of eclampsia (25-27%), stroke, and dangerous bleeding in the postpartum period increases in childbirth [30, 39].

Hypertensive disorders in pregnant women according to the European Society of Cardiology are the most common complications, which occur in 5-10% of cases and remain the leading cause of morbidity and mortality among mothers, fetuses (4%) and newborns [16, 18, 21].

The main task of the doctor is to establish the threat of hypertension, multiorgan and placental insufficiency as soon as possible and to prescribe adequate treatment [45, 49, 51]. Prevention, prevention and treatment of hypertension with its possible consequences during pregnancy has some difficulties, as the choice of drug pharmacotherapy is very limited due to the impact on the baby and the mother [58]. Scientific developments and many years of experience of doctors prove that the main therapy for pregnant women with hypertension is to adhere to a protective regime and nutrition [55]. In addition, it is rational to prevent pregnancy complications, especially in the early stages [23].

#### The purpose of the work:

Analyze the causes, possible consequences of complications for women and fetuses associated with the development of hypertensive disorders during pregnancy and summarize possible ways of drug therapy.

#### Task:

- 1. To determine aspects of the etiopathogenesis of hypertension in pregnant women.
- 2. Analyze the risk factors for complications of hypertension in pregnant women
- 3. Evaluate laboratory and experimental studies during pregnancy
- 4. To generalize recommendations of possible ways of prevention and medical correction of hypertension of pregnant women.

Object of study: arterial hypertension of pregnant women.

#### Subject of study:

Consequences and possible ways to correct hypertension during pregnancy.

#### **Research methods:**

Analytical, general clinical, clinical and laboratory.

#### Scientific novelty.

The master's thesis identifies risk factors for the development of hypertension in pregnant women. Recommendations on diagnostic methods, prevention measures and drug therapy of hypertensive conditions in pregnant women are analyzed.

#### Approbation of results.

According to the results of the study, abstracts were published at the following conferences:

#### The practical significance of the results obtained.

The results of the analysis of the risk of mortality and morbidity in pregnant women with hypertension and comorbid conditions allow specialists in the field of therapy to increase the effectiveness and safety of treatment, as well as prevention of complications in this group of patients.

#### SECTION 1 LITERATURE REVIEW

Human life is the most precious thing we have in the world. Preservation and comprehensive care of pregnant women and women in labor is the most important task of all medical and pharmaceutical professionals. For most women, pregnancy is a natural process, but sometimes there may be various deviations from the normal course of pregnancy. There is a "pregnancy risk group" - women with hypertension, heart disease, varicose veins and more. In many respects, expectant mothers need qualified medical support from the first weeks of pregnancy in order to bear and give birth to a healthy baby with their own health preserved [2, 43].

# 1.1Definition, epidemiology, classification of arterial hypertension.Cardiovascular risk factors for hypertension

Hypertension is a polyetiological disease that occurs due to the interaction of harmful environmental factors (risk factors) and genetic (hereditary) factors. Hypertonic disease is an outdated term, which means an increase in excess blood pressure in the vascular bed since the 1990s is not used in medical practice, instead the term is recommended to use the term *hypertension* [47].

Hypertension occupies one of the leading places among the pathologies of the cardiovascular system and leads to significant disorders of the body - loss of ability to work, disability and significant economic losses [40].

Despite the current level of scientific research to date, the cause of hypertension (essential form), which accounts for about 95%, has not yet been established [12, 13]. The classical etiopathogenesis of this pathology includes several theories of arterial hypertension. Among them are the neurogenic theory, where the main role in the development of the pathological process is played by the CNS. According to the volume-salt theory, when the excretory function of the kidneys is initially impaired due to the delay in the body of sodium and water, there is an increase in cardiac output (VOC) and circulating blood volume (CBV). Genetic defects can contribute to hypertension due to disruption of various chains of blood pressure regulation -

transmembrane movement of Na and Ca ions, excessive production of pressors (or depressant deficiency), increased sensitivity of receptors to their action. The mechanism of regulation of Na metabolism, nervous regulation of arterial pressure, renin-angiotensin-aldosterone system is broken, rheological properties of blood change [32].

As a rule, before the appearance of various complications, hypertension often occurs without any symptoms, and its only manifestation is an increase in blood pressure [24, 25]. The first complaints of patients appear after the defeat of target organs [72].

Scientists estimate that 1.28 billion adults aged 30-79 are hypertensive worldwide, two-thirds of whom live in low- and middle-income countries. The WHO emphasizes that hypertension is most common in the African region (27%), and least - in the American region (18%) [13, 14].

Approximately 46% of people do not suspect the presence of pathologically high levels of blood pressure. Less than half (42%) of hypertensive patients adhere to treatment, undergo diagnostic procedures and listen to the doctor's recommendations for lifestyle changes. This contributes to the fact that every fifth (21%) adult hypertensive person controls the disease, realizing that hypertension is one of the leading causes of death worldwide.

Reducing the prevalence of hypertension by 33% in the period from 2010 to 2030 is one of the global goals in the fight against non-communicable diseases [60].

With each stroke, the heart throws blood into the vessels, while the pressure on the walls of the vessels. Because blood pressure is subject to some fluctuations depending on the time of day or physical activity - long-term monitoring is needed to detect pathologies.

Blood pressure is described by two indicators. The first indicator (systolic pressure) is the pressure in the blood vessels at the time of compression, or contraction, of the heart muscle. The second indicator (diastolic pressure) is the pressure in the vessels at the moment when the heart is at rest between two contractions. Excessive pressure in the vessels leads to a loss of elasticity of the artery walls over time and a

gradual decrease in the supply of blood and oxygen to the heart muscle. Hypertension is very dangerous because it can lead to heart attacks, strokes, kidney failure and instant death.

Hypertension (AH) is persistently elevated systolic (SBP) and / or diastolic (DBP) blood pressure (BP).

AH is an increase in SBP to 140 mm Hg. Art. and above and / or DBP up to 90 mm Hg. Art. and above, if such an increase is stable (confirmed by repeated measurements of blood pressure at least 2-3 times on different days for 4 weeks.) Hypertension (essential hypertension or primary hypertension) is an elevated blood pressure in the absence of an obvious cause.

#### Primary hypertension.

Primary hypertension can be said when high blood pressure has no underlying disease as the cause. We can say that high blood pressure exists "by itself". This form of hypertension can be caused by various factors, but the exact cause is unknown.

Risk factors for the development of primary hypertension include genetic predisposition, obesity, alcohol consumption, lack of physical activity, smoking, age, potassium deficiency and high salt intake. In women, hypertension can also be associated with the onset of menopause, changes in hormonal background, abnormal pregnancy.

Hypertension in combination with type 2 diabetes, obesity and high cholesterol is a metabolic syndrome that significantly increases the risk of stroke [49, 50].

#### Secondary hypertension.

Secondary hypertension is always the result of another disease, such as kidney and vascular disease, metabolic disorders, and so on. In addition, some medications, such as birth control pills or rheumatism medications, can increase blood pressure. That is, secondary hypertension (symptomatic) is hypertension, the cause of which can be identified.

In 2018, the American College of Cardiology [American College of Cardiology (ACC)] and the American Heart Association [American Heart Association (AHA)] on the diagnosis, treatment, control and prevention of cardiovascular disease

published updated guidelines for the assessment of high blood pressure (BP). The recommendations of the ISH (International Society of Hypertension - ISH) adapted the standards, taking into account the differences between optimal health care with scientifically sound standards and the provision of health care based on basic care in the minimum standard of care with limited resources. Updated recommendations are relevant [9, 19].

The updated classification of hypertension, which is actively used in the world, and the criteria are given in Table 1.1.

#### Table 1.1

Category	Blood pressure levels, mm	els, mm Hg Art.		
	SBP	DBP		
Normal blood pressure	<130	<85		
High normal blood	120, 120	95 90		
pressure	130–139	83-89		
AH stage I	140–159	90–99		
AH stage II	≥160	≥100		
Criteria of hyprtension				
Office blood pressure (clinical, measured in the doctor's office)		≥140 і/або ≥90		
Ambulatory control of	24-hour average	$\geq$ 130 and/or $\geq$ 80		
AH	Daily average value	$\geq$ 135 and/or $\geq$ 85.		
	Night time / sleep	sleep $\geq 120$ and/or $\geq 70$		
Self-monitoring of AH		$\geq$ 135 and/or $\geq$ 85		

#### **Classification of hyprtension**

It is known that in hypertension there is a risk of additional cardiovascular factor or factors. Risk factors include complicated family history, diabetes (15–20%), impaired lipid metabolism (30%), obesity (40%), hyperuricemia (25%), metabolic syndrome (40%), sedentary lifestyle, and sometimes even psychosocial or socio-economic factors. Cardiovascular risk according to the recommendations is assessed by measuring blood pressure fluctuations and additional risk factors according to the simplified classification (Table 1.2)

Table 1.2

Cardiovascular risk factors	Highly normal CBP 130–139 mm Hg. DBP 85–89 mm Hg.		Highly normal CBP 130–139 mm Hg. DBP 85–89 mm Hg.		AH I degree CBP 140– 149 mm Hg. DBP 90–99 mm Hg.	AH of the ∃ CBP ≥160 DBP ≥100	II degree mm Hg. mm Hg.
There are no							
cardiovascular risk	Low		Low	Moderate	High		
factors							
1 or 2 risk factors	Low		Moderate	High			
$\geq$ 3 risk factors	Low	Moderate	High	High			
Target organ							
damage, chronic							
kidney disease							
(CKD) stage III,	Low		High	High			
diabetes,							
cardiovascular							
disease							

Simplified classification of cardiovascular risk

Necessary actions of the doctor to diagnose hypertension (2020)

Required:

- The doctor or nurse performs measurements on the patient's shoulder with a spring sphygmomanometer using the auscultatory method or electronic device. Electronic devices using the auscultatory or oscillometric method are also used. Measurement of blood pressure at each visit to the doctor in standard conditions at least 2 times during the reception. At the first treatment blood pressure is measured on both hands. When a difference in the level of blood pressure in the hands is detected, a hand with a higher blood pressure is used for further measurements. Norm AT 120/80.
- 2) Conducting a medical examination of all patients: physical examination, assessment of neurological status, ophthalmoscopy of the fundus of patients with SBP more than 160 mm. rt. Art. and patients with ophthalmic and neurological symptoms.

- 3) Laboratory tests: general analysis of blood, urine, determination of glycemia, creatinine to conduct all at the initial treatment. If it is impossible to perform research in primary care facilities, you should be referred to a secondary care facility.
- 4) ECG registration in 12 leads.
- 5) Determination of risk factors and preliminary assessment of overall cardiovascular risk.
- 6) In case of secondary hypertension, resistant hypertension, hypertension in patients under 40 years of age, pregnancy with hypertension - referral for examination to secondary care facilities.

Some people (women) have a rise in blood pressure during a doctor's or nurse's measurement. This phenomenon is called the **white coat effect**. In this situation, you need to assess blood pressure outside the doctor's office.

Desired actions:

- 1. Laboratory tests: determination of ALT, TG, microalbuminuria, the level of total cholesterol, calculation of GFR by the Cocroft-Golt formula.
- 2. Instrumental examinations: ultrasound of the heart (echocardiography, Doppler-CG), ultrasound of extra cranial vessels of the neck, ultrasound of the kidneys.

Clinical blood pressure measurements should be performed at each visit to the doctor. They are the basis for the diagnosis of hypertension and evaluation of the effectiveness of antihypertensive treatment, and are also used to assess the overall cardiovascular risk [4, 5].

Global guidelines (both European and American) also emphasize that physicians in their clinical practice should use more than just office or clinical blood pressure (BP) measurements to diagnose and control hypertension. It is necessary to put into practice outpatient blood pressure measurements and the limit values (in the table below), according to which hypertension will be diagnosed, using outpatient 24hour monitoring or home monitoring of blood pressure [22, 34]. The aim of treatment of patients with hypertension is to achieve the maximum reduction of the total risk of cardiovascular complications by achieving and maintaining for all categories of patients with hypertension a single target blood pressure with office measurement <140/90 mm Hg (emphasizing the need for it achievement).

#### **1.2** Hypertension of pregnant women. Classification, risk control

Normal blood pressure during pregnancy is considered to be the one that provides optimal blood supply to the placenta, and hence the fetus. The physiological course of pregnancy provides normal blood pressure at 20-24 weeks of gestation. In the first trimester of pregnancy, the level of progesterone increases, which helps to relax blood vessels and slightly reduce blood pressure. With increasing gestational age, blood pressure gradually increases, due to a significant increase in circulating blood volume, weight gain of 10-15 kg, sodium retention, increased cardiac output, plasma flow rate and hormone levels in the body. Hormonal activity of the placenta is due to hyperfusion of trophoblast cells and is a reflex mechanism aimed at increasing maternal circulation. The secretion of catecholamines by the placenta lasts for a certain period of time, which affects the blood pressure [52].

In the first hours after childbirth during the physiological course of the postpartum period, the pressure decreases, which is due to a decrease in the secretion of catecholamines in the body of the mother. According to the principle of negative feedback, the level of adrenaline and noradrenaline in the blood serum increases on the second day after childbirth, and on the 3rd-6th day after childbirth its maximum values are registered in women, with subsequent gradual normalization. Such dynamics is typical for both healthy women and women suffering from any form of hypertension [1, 29].

The risk of preeclampsia increases if in the second trimester of pregnancy the average blood pressure is above 90 mm Hg. In pregnant women with late toxicosis, the clinical course of the postpartum period and the biochemical processes of

recovery of catecholamine reserves are different than in the physiological course of pregnancy and childbirth. Restoration of blood catecholamines in pathological pregnancy occurs only on the 8th day, which indicates reduced adaptive capacity of the sympathoadrenal system in women with preeclampsia.

Pathological processes in hypertension during pregnancy are layered on the processes of adaptation of the cardiovascular system to the delivery and birth of a child. During pregnancy, another (third) circle of blood circulation is formed (Fig. 1.1.).



Picture 1.1 Blood circulation in pregnant women

Hypertension (AH) during pregnancy is registered in 8-10% of cases and significantly increases the likelihood of adverse events for both mother and fetus. Pregnancy hypertension is a heterogeneous concept that combines different clinical and pathogenetic forms of hypertensive conditions. But now among scientists there are no common criteria for definition, characteristics and even terminology. Thus, in many European countries, doctors use the term preeclampsia, in the United States and Britain - preeclampsia, in Japan - toxemia [8, 44].

Hypertensive disorders during pregnancy can be classified as follows [1, 7, 63]:

- Chronic or present: high blood pressure (systolic blood pressure ≥ 140 mm Hg or diastolic blood pressure ≥90 mm Hg in two measurements) before pregnancy or 20 weeks of pregnancy. Chronic hypertension complicates 1-5% of all pregnancies and usually persists for 6 months after delivery.
- Gestational hypertension, including preeclampsia: hypertension develops after 20 weeks of pregnancy (usually after 37 weeks) and is registered for another 6-12 weeks after delivery; it occurs in 5-10% of pregnancies, most often in multiple. It is defined as gestational hypertension associated with significant proteinuria.
- 3. Primary preeclampsia: headache, epigastric pain, visual disturbances, convulsions.
- 4. Iatrogenic: due to the use of drugs: nonsteroidal anti-inflammatory drugs, horn derivatives to stop bleeding, ephedrine, drugs to correct hypovolemia, etc.
- 5. Pain (in case of inadequate analgesia).
- 6. Anxiety.

Chronic and gestational types of hypertension in pregnant women increase the risk of preeclampsia, eclampsia and other causes of maternal morbidity and mortality, including hypertensive encephalopathy, stroke, renal failure, left ventricular failure, HELLP syndrome (hemolysis, elevated liver enzymes) and

With hypertension, not only the level of serum catecholamines increases, but also the density of adrenergic innervation increases, which leads to local hypercatecholemia [27, 31].

Careful monitoring of blood pressure fluctuations throughout pregnancy provides an opportunity to understand and avoid all possible risks for both the woman and the fetus [26, 28].

The risk of fetal mortality or morbidity is increased due to decreased uteroplacental blood flow, which can lead to vasospasm, growth retardation, hypoxia and premature placental abruption. Results are worse if severe hypertension (systolic blood pressure  $\geq$  160, diastolic blood pressure  $\geq$  110 mm Hg, or both) or is

accompanied by renal insufficiency (eg, creatinine clearance <60 ml / min, serum creatinine> 2 dl [> 180 mol / l]).

Due to the constant high blood pressure and its uncontrollability by the woman and the doctor, the blood vessels lose their tone and their walls thicken. As a consequence of impaired blood supply to organs and tissues, which adversely affects their work and blood circulation in the placenta. Due to the fact that a person gets used to high blood pressure, it becomes clear that a pregnant woman pays attention to the problem only in the period of exacerbation, when blood pressure rises particularly high (for each individual), which negatively affects the whole body and fetus. Hypertension, however, is complicated by serious disorders of the internal organs, which can lead to disability or death of both mother and fetus.

The main complications of hypertension relate to the heart, brain, kidneys [36, 38]. In addition to such dangerous phenomena as heart attack or stroke, hypertension leads to angina, brain and lung edema. Any complication triggers a chain reaction, because it has its own complications that impair quality of life, lead to disability, disability and death [46, 70].

In the presence of complications of hypertension, symptoms from the affected target organs are noted:

- heart heart rhythm disorders, heart pain, shortness of breath, edema;
- brain deterioration of intellectual abilities, dizziness, neurological disorders;
- eyes impaired vision, up to blindness;
- peripheral arteries, frostbite of the extremities, intermittent claudication;
- kidneys nocturnal urination, edema.



In Figure 1.2. the risks of complications of hypertension are given.

**Figure 1.2 Complications of hypertension** 

For hypertension of pregnant women stages are determined by the studied level of blood pressure and depend on the presence of complications:

• Stage I - no complications;

• Stage II - the appearance of changes in one or more target organs (heart, blood vessels, brain, eyes, kidneys);

• Stage III - the presence of associated clinical conditions, ie gross organic pathology of target organs (heart attack, angina, stroke, renal failure, retinal hemorrhage, optic edema).

The most dangerous complications of pregnancy, childbirth and early postpartum period in women with hypertension [1, 7]:

- placental insufficiency;
- fetal growth retardation syndrome;
- fetal death;
- death of a child in the early postpartum period;

- premature detachment of the normally located placenta;
- obstetric bleeding;
- eclampsia;
- severe life-threatening blood clotting disorders;
- acute renal damage;
- pulmonary edema;
- hemorrhage and retinal detachment;
- stroke.



Figure 1.3 Complications of hypertension, effects on cerebral vessels

Women with severe hypertension are at high risk of life-threatening complications, so despite the lack of evidence-based recommendations, pregnant women are still prescribed antihypertensive therapy [35, 41, 42, 54].

# 1.3 Diagnosis and classification of hypertensive disorders during pregnancy

The analysis of maternal deaths from severe hypertension shows that, despite sufficient study of this problem, in many cases women die from organizational and professional errors of medical staff not only obstetrics and gynecology, but also ambulances and emergency services.

During pregnancy, the diagnostic process solves the following tasks:

- determining the degree of hypertension;
- determination of the condition of target organs;
- determining the risk of preeclampsia;
- determining the effectiveness of treatment.

Blood pressure has physiological fluctuations during the day. Blood pressure usually decreases at night in women with mild preeclampsia and chronic hypertension, but in severe preeclampsia, blood pressure has distorted fluctuations with a peak of blood pressure at 2 o'clock at night. The procedure of diagnosis, measurement of blood pressure is of great importance to prevent the development of premature complications [46,59].

Diagnosis of hypertension is difficult, both outside of pregnancy and throughout pregnancy, when it is not possible to use most diagnostic manipulations (invasive, radiological, isotopic). Therefore, the peculiarities of the anamnesis and diagnostic tests performed before pregnancy are of great importance. Management of all term of pregnancy demands from the gynecologist qualitative assessment of all laboratory and instrumental researches.

#### Laboratory and instrumental studies during pregnancy:

#### A. To all pregnant women:

- a) detailed blood test (for hemoglobin, erythrocytes, leukocytes, ESR);
- b) analysis of urine for the presence of protein;
- c) analysis of urine for the presence of erythrocytes, leukocytes;
- d) analysis of urine for sugar;

e) serum potassium;

f) serum creatine or urea nitrogen;

- g) electrocardiogram;
- h) fundus examination;
- i) manual examination of the thyroid gland.

#### **B.** Depending on the results of history and examination:

- a) blood sugar;
- b) cholesterol and blood triglycerides;
- c) calcium, phosphorus, serum uric acid;
- d) echocardiogram;
- e) ultrasound of the kidneys;
- f) urine culture;
- g) urine analysis for catecholamines.

Examination of women with hypertension when planning a pregnancy or deciding whether to preserve the pregnancy should include examination of target organs, as their risk increases for both mother and fetus increases. Careful monitoring of a woman's condition in the second half of pregnancy is especially important for timely diagnosis and treatment of preeclampsia. Pregnant women with hypertension should be registered with a physician, gynecologist and endocrinologist.

Primary hospitalization of pregnant women at risk occurs up to 12 weeks in order to address the issue of further preservation of pregnancy. The last hospitalization takes place 2-3 weeks before delivery in order to choose the method.

Pressure measurements are performed according to standard procedures, it is recommended to perform on both arms, but in the subsequent measurement mainly on the arm with a higher blood pressure, mostly sitting or lying on the left side. If aortic dissection is suspected, blood pressure is also measured in the lower extremities.

According to both European and American recommendations, the diagnosis and control of hypertension are used not only office (clinical, physician-measured) blood pressure measurements, but also outpatient, which are given (in Table 1.3).

# Table 1.3Hypertension criteria based on clinical (office) blood pressure measurement [46,59]

Measurement	CBP/DBP, mm Hg.
Office BP (clinical)	$\geq$ 140 and / or $\geq$ 90
Outpatient BP measurement	
Average BP within 24 hours	$\geq$ 130 and / or $\geq$ 80
Average daily BP (during the waking period)	$\geq$ 135 and / or $\geq$ 85
Average BP (during sleep)	$\geq$ 120 and / or $\geq$ 70
Home measurement	$\geq$ 135 and / or $\geq$ 85

According to the European Society of Hypertension (ESH), the European Society of Cardiology (ESC) and the European Society of Atherosclerosis (ESA), more than half of pregnant women, especially in the second trimester diagnosed with hypertension, have an additional risk factor - overweight and obesity (45%), elevated levels of low-density lipoprotein, cholesterol and triglycerides (25%), hyperglycemia (15% -20%), hyperuricemia (18%) and metabolic syndrome (38%) [73].

In the case of their simultaneous presence, elevated blood pressure and other risk factors may exacerbate each other, which leads to an increase in the overall risk of CVD, which exceeds the sum of its individual components [17, 73, 74].

Management of the first trimester of pregnancy requires a doctor to qualitatively assess all risk factors, regular monitoring of blood pressure, determination of the placental index of the uterine artery, PIGF and, if necessary, prophylactic acetylsalicylic acid for 11-14 + 6 days until the 36th week of pregnancy.

When diagnosed with calcium deficiency in the diet (<800 mg / day), it is also recommended to prescribe calcium supplements in terms of elemental calcium 1.5-2 g / day.

If the patient has all the prerequisites for complications and they are already formed, help is possible only by detecting early signs of critical lesions of target organs in pregnant women, namely glomerular apparatus - proteinuria, vascular - increased blood pressure, aspartate aminotransferase, alanine aminotransferase, alkaline, alkaline hemolysis - liver damage (International Journal of Obstetrics & Gynecology, 2019).

Improving the prognosis of hypertension in pregnant women is possible through the appointment of multivitamins, trace elements, including vitamin D and calcium [62]. Clinical studies by Chinese doctors have shown that prescribing multivitamins halves the incidence of preeclampsia in early pregnancy. It is proved that a deficiency of arginine, folic acid to reduce the level of homocysteine, create all the conditions for the irreversible process of preeclampsia (Fig. 1.4).



Figure 1.4 - Pathogenesis of hypertension in preeclampsia of the second trimester under conditions of deficiency in pregnant women [1]

#### **1.4 Laboratory indicators**

When considering various conditions and diseases, the basic indicators according to which it is possible to observe dynamics are important. In table 1.4. this section shows the norms of laboratory parameters for women.

#### Table 1.4.

#### Norms of laboratory parameters in women [7, 46]

Indicator	Normal
Creatinine	44-97 μmol / 1
Urea	1.92-4.51 mmol / 1.

ALT	up to 32 un / 1
AST	up to 31 un / 1
Uric acid	150-350 μmol / l.

Creatinine is a metabolite of creatine phosphate, the final dehydrated product of creatine metabolism. This is an indicator of metabolic disorders, a by-product of metabolic processes in muscles. Determination of creatinine allows to assess glomerular filtration, as it is released only by glomeruli, not reabsorbed in the renal tubules [62, 69].

#### **Deviation from the norm:**

**Increased** level signals: renal failure, muscle damage, exercise, excessive meat consumption.

**Reduced** level is observed in: decreased muscle mass, pregnancy, protein deficiency, li ver disease [68, 71].

Urea is the end product of the breakdown of proteins in the body, which is formed in the liver as a result of a cascade of complex biochemical reactions. The purpose of this process is the excretion of a number of nitrogenous substances (metabolites that can harm it). One such metabolite is ammonia. In itself, it is quite aggressive to many organs and tissues, especially the brain.

The result of an analysis that results in elevated urea (azotemia) may indicate the presence of [68]:

- Kidney disease (pyelonephritis, glomerulonephritis, acute or chronic renal failure, renal tuberculosis);

- Urolithiasis (complications of urine outflow);

- Heart or liver failure (acute or chronic);

- Malignant processes;

- Bleeding of any origin (including internal - from the gastrointestinal tract or others);

- Intestinal obstruction;

- Burn disease, shock, intoxication, etc.

- Exercise;

- Drugs (glucocorticoids, androgens).

Urea, the result of which is below normal may be associated with diseases such as hepatitis, cirrhosis, hepatic coma, and a moderate decrease in children during the phases of active growth, phosphorus or arsenic poisoning.

It is known that a decrease in urea levels below normal is observed during pregnancy.

It is also known that the analysis of urea will show its low content if a person eats mostly plant foods, as well as vice versa: people whose diet contains a large amount of protein (meat, eggs, fish, dairy products) - will have high urea levels.

AST, ALT - an enzyme involved in energy production in such a process as the Krebs cycle by transferring amino groups. Contained in the mitochondria and cytoplasm of the liver, erythrocytes, heart, kidneys, skeletal muscle and pancreas. The activity of the enzyme is equal to the degree of tissue damage. The largest amount of enzyme is localized in the heart.

Increased ACT activity may be due to viral hepatitis, muscle injuries, liver damage, myocardial infarction, liver cirrhosis, chronic hepatitis, and others.

ALT is a transaminase enzyme involved in the transfer of amino groups. The largest number is localized in liver cells. In general, transferases indicate myocardial damage, infectious diseases, jaundice, liver disease [32, 66].

Uric acid is the end product of the metabolism of purine acids, which are contained in the DNA and RNA of all cells in the body. Purines enter the bloodstream due to cell death (up to 80%) or in the form of food (red meat, liver, fish, legumes, beer, wine). In the liver under the influence of xanthine oxidase is the synthesis of uric acid, 70% of which is excreted by the kidneys.

Increased production of uric acid or impaired excretion due to decreased renal function leads to hyperuricemia, which is manifested by kidney stones and gout. Elevated uric acid causes a condition such as hyperuricemia (> 420 mmol / 1), which is an additional risk factor for hypertension.

Photo and figure 1.5 show developed for the diagnosis of measures to control changes in the functional activity of the kidneys and metabolic processes in the body in various types of pathology.

		-	-		
855	1				
states and tig	60 seconds	0.2	1	IG/dL UPINE (1	mg = approx 1 E
IMPORTANT: expiration dat htty. Intended	PROTEIN 60 seconda	NEGATIVE	ACE	mg/dL	30 +
Do not touch ' e. Do not remo for use in the	pH 60 seconds	5.0	3.0	6.5	7.0
U.S.A.	BLOOD 60 seconds	NEGATIVE	NON-HEN	MOLYZED MODERATE	HEMOLYZED TRACE

**Photo.** The use of test strips allows you to quickly (in 1-2 minutes) to analyze from 5





Figure 1.6 Proteinuria test strip is determined in 60 seconds.

The concentration of protein in the urine of 0.3 g / 1 English-speaking doctors designate as "+", 1 g / 1 - "++", 3.0 g / 1 - "+++".

Foreign authors attribute edema to a phenomenon that does not affect the prognosis of pregnancy, perinatal morbidity and mortality, if the mother does not develop hypertension, proteinuria.

#### **1.5** Drug therapy of hypertensive disorders during pregnancy

Drug pharmacotherapy of pregnant women involves general agreement on common issues, which comes to the obstetrician-gynecologist together with the therapist, as well as, if necessary, with other specialists - cardiologist, endocrinologist, neurologist.

Pharmacotherapy of symptomatic hypertension is almost no different from that of hypertension [62, 64, 65]. However, the effect of therapy is often less pronounced. Thus, the correction of stable hypertension caused by renal artery stenosis is performed with surgical manipulations. Hypertension of endocrine origin requires treatment of the underlying disease.

Treatment of mild or moderate hypertension without renal failure during pregnancy is debatable. The problematic questions are: does treatment improve the outcome of pregnancy and to what extent the risks of drug therapy outweigh the risks of untreated disease [48, 61]. It should be borne in mind that uteroplacental blood flow cannot regulate itself, lowering maternal blood pressure can dramatically reduce it.

It is known that drug therapy during pregnancy is often contraindicated due to the high risk of teratogenic effects [62, 75]. The placental barrier is overcome by a large number of drugs. If the patient's condition allows, doctors try to use non-drug therapy, i.e., lifestyle modification, namely - increase sleep duration, stress management, meditation, diet, walking in the air, general strengthening exercises.

The unpredictable nature of complications in severe hypertension in pregnant women requires hospitalization and close monitoring in specialized centers that have sufficient resources for intensive care of the mother and newborn. In case of moderate or severe hypertension, treatment includes antihypertensive therapy, careful monitoring, and in case of worsening of the condition - termination of pregnancy or childbirth, depending on gestational age. Induction of labor is recommended after the 37th week of pregnancy. Up to 10% of mortality in pregnant women occurs in the postpartum period. Other possible complications of severe postpartum hypertension are caused by stroke or eclampsia. There are currently no randomized clinical trials, and in many parts of the world most recommendations are based on expert consensus.

The goals of treatment of hypertension in pregnant women are:

- prevention of complications associated with high blood pressure;
- preservation of pregnancy;
- normal fetal development and timely delivery.

There are two ways to treat hypertension during pregnancy:

- outpatient;
- stationary required for:
- gestational hypertension (blood pressure  $\geq 140/90$  for  $\geq 20$  weeks of pregnancy);
- hypertensive crisis (rapid increase in blood pressure  $\geq 170/110$ );
- preeclampsia (blood pressure  $\geq 140/90 + \text{protein in the urine}$ );
- eclampsia (convulsions).

Types of outpatient treatment:

• non-medication - normalization of lifestyle and nutrition;

• medication - taking drugs under medical supervision and blood pressure control [46, 59].

In mild hypertension, traditional therapy is used, followed by the appointment of antihypertensive drugs if necessary [1, 62].

ESC experts on the study of hypertension in pregnant women for the appointment of antihypertensive therapy determine the level of systolic blood pressure not less than 150 mm Hg, and diastolic - not less than 100 mm Hg, or the presence of clinically defined target organs - hypertrophy left ventricle, renal failure.

According to other guidelines, it is recommended to start therapy with blood pressure greater than 170/110 mm Hg. [46]

The most common antihypertensive drugs for the treatment of hypertension in pregnant women are shown in table 1.5.

Drugs of choice for antihypertensive therapy during pregnancy are:

1. agonist of alpha2-adrenoceptors - methyldopa;

2. beta-adrenoceptor blockers - atenolol;

3. non-selective blocker of alpha and beta-adrenoceptors - labetalol;

4. dihydropyridine calcium channel blockers - nifedipine, felodipine, izradipine;

5. magnesium sulfate; apressin; renin inhibitors

It is recommended to start therapy with alpha2-adrenoceptor agonist - methyldopa, beta-blockers or calcium channel blockers.

The use of angiotensin-converting enzyme (ACE) inhibitors, angiotensin II receptor blockers (ARBs) and aldosterone antagonists should be avoided.

Angiotensin-converting enzyme inhibitors (enalapril, lisinopril, captopril, ramipril) are not recommended during pregnancy and several weeks after delivery, as there is a hypothetical risk of cardiovascular and renal side effects due to lack of scientific experience. this issue. It is known that ACE inhibitors can cause fetal growth retardation, bone dysplasia with impaired skull ossification, shortening of limbs and even fetal death. In the case of ACE inhibitors, treatment is continued until the appearance of any side effects in the fetus under the conditions of weekly ultrasound monitoring or other studies [61, 62].

Drug	Mechanism of action	Method of administration	Beginning of action,	Duration of action,	Initial dose	Dose titration	The maximum dose	Perinatal problems	Contraindication	Side effects
	5	e co	4	N.	9	7	<b>x</b>	6	10	11
Labetalol	α1-Nonselective β-adrenoceptor blocker	In / v bolus	5-10	2–6	10–20 mg	20–80 m, every 20–30 min.	300 mg	Fetal distress, neonatal bradycardia, hypoglycemia	AV-blockade of the II- or III- degree. CH.	Bronchospasm (caution should be exercised when prescribing to women with
Hydralazine	Direct vasodilator	Intravenous infusion	10	12	1-2 mg	Increase by 1 mg every 10 minutes	30 mg	Fetal distress, cesarean section, Apgar score $<7$ ,		Headache, palpitations, tachycardia, nausea / vomiting,
Short-acting nifedipine	Dihydropyri dine calcium channel	In / v bolus	5-10	2-4	5 mg intravenousl	5–10 mg IV every 20–40 min	30 mg	Fetal distress		Uncontrolled hypotension, stroke
Nitroglycerin	Direct vasodilator	Orally	1–5	0,05	10–20 mg	If necessary, repeat after 30 minutes	200 mcg / min			Headache, reflex tachycardia

## **Recommended antihypertensive therapy**

29

<b>H</b>	7	3	4	S	9	٢	8	6	10	11
Esmolol	B1-adrenoceptor blocker	Intravenous infusion	<1	0,25-0,50	50 mcg/kg/min	Increase by 50 μg / kg / min every 4 minutes	300 mcg/kg/min	Fetal bradycardia	AV-blockade of the II- or III- degree. heart	First-degree heart block, bradycardia in women, bronchospasm
Nicardipine	CCB	Intravenous infusion	1-5	4–6 h	5 mg/h	Increase by 2.5 mg / h every 5–15 minutes	15 mg/h		Hepatic failure	Tachycardi a, hot flashes, headache
Urapidi 1	B1- adrenoc eptor	Intrave nous	3-5	4–6 h	5–40 mg/h		40 mg/h			
Sodium nitroprusside	Non-selective direct nitric oxide inhibitor	Intravenous infusion	<1	2–3 min	0,25 µg / kg / min	Increase by 0.25-0.5 μg / kg / min every 2-3 minutes	5 µg / kg / min	Toxicity of cyanide and thiocyanate to		Nausea, vomiting

#### Continuation of the table. 1.5

Angiotensin receptor antagonists are contraindicated throughout pregnancy and breastfeeding, as they are teratogenic, and imidazoline receptor agonists are still poorly understood [52, 64, 65].

The drug alpha2-adrenomimetic - methyldopa is preferred by a large number of clinicians on the basis of reports of stable uteroplacental circulation during longterm follow-up. The drug has no long-term risks of adverse side effects in later life in both women and children [1, 46, 59]. Usually, therapy is started with methyldopa, beta-blockers or calcium channel blockers. Labetalol intravenously and nifedipine orally are first-line drugs for the treatment of hypertension during pregnancy. It is not recommended to use methyldopa in case of urgent blood pressure lowering.

To reduce circulating blood volume (CBV) and peripheral edema, taking into account all possible risks, your doctor may recommend diuretics. Diuretics, by reducing maternal CBV, consistently and persistently can lead to the risk of fetal growth retardation. Diuretics are sometimes prescribed to pregnant women at a later date. The diuretic is selected taking into account the individual characteristics of the patient, depending on the causes of ill health and the need for intensity of the effect.

Pregnant women with hypertension are prescribed diuretics based on the following components [48, 59]:

- goldenrod;
- lovage;
- horsetail;
- artichoke;
- goldsmith

Furosemide can be prescribed only in the second trimester of pregnancy,7 hydrochlorothiazide in the second half of pregnancy, theobromine increases the risk of fetal tachycardia, so it is prohibited for the entire pregnancy, xipamide - increases blood clotting and is also contraindicated in pregnant women.

Intravenous magnesium sulfate is recommended for the prevention of eclampsia and seizures in pregnant women. Magnesium sulfate is not combined with calcium channel blockers due to the high risk of synergism.

Current guidelines for the management of pregnant women with chronic and gestational hypertension are the same and depend on the severity of the pregnancy [46]. It is known that chronic hypertension can be more severe, and in gestational hypertension the increase in blood pressure often occurs only in late pregnancy and does not require treatment. However, if any preventive measures do not lead to the

stabilization of normal blood pressure, many experts recommend the use of drug therapy.

The study of pathogenetic mechanisms of the development of hypertensive syndrome in pregnant women allowed to develop the principle of combination drug therapy. The combined use of magnesium drugs, adrenergic drugs - clonidine or methyldopa and calcium channel blockers in pregnant women at risk for severe preeclampsia allows you to prolong the pregnancy to the required time. Abortion is recommended in the absence of treatment and occurs in less than 7.7% of cases. Perinatal mortality is 2.2%. Carrying out preventive treatment in pregnant women with hypertension and autonomic dysfunction of the hypertensive type with clonidine and verapamil, starting from 20-24 weeks, has a stable hypotensive, diuretic and sedative effect in 92.5% of patients.

The purpose of pharmacotherapy of a patient with hypertension is to achieve the maximum reduction of the total risk of cardiovascular complications by achieving and maintaining the target blood pressure level less than 120/80 mm Hg. (in patients with diabetes mellitus, in chronic kidney disease, the target blood pressure is 130/80 mm Hg), modification of risk factors, effective treatment of concomitant clinical conditions.

Medical treatment of concomitant diseases (coronary heart disease, diabetes, etc.) is carried out in accordance with current medical and technological documents.

Prevention of preeclampsia in pregnant women with chronic hypertension is as follows [1, 46, 62]:

1. Acetylsalicylic acid 60-100 mg / day, starting from 20 weeks of pregnancy;

2. Calcium supplements 2 g / day, starting from 16 weeks of pregnancy;

3. Inclusion in the diet of seafood with a high content of polyunsaturated fatty acids;

4. Do not limit the use of salt and liquid.

If the target blood pressure is not reached, it is necessary to make sure that the patient follows the recommendations for taking drugs, to correct the therapy.

In case of ineffectiveness of drug therapy (provided that the drugs are prescribed in adequate doses) - referral to health care facilities that provide secondary care, the ability to monitor the patient's condition. If it is impossible to monitor and / or develop a complicated hypertensive crisis, the patient is referred to secondary inpatient care as soon as possible.

Desirable actions: in case of ineffectiveness of drug therapy to perform outpatient blood pressure monitoring or blood pressure monitoring at home

Recommendations for the management of pregnant women with chronic and gestational hypertension are the same and depend on the severity. However, chronic hypertension can be more severe. In gestational hypertension, the increase in blood pressure often occurs only in late pregnancy and does not require treatment.

#### SECTION 2 MATERIALS AND METHODS OF RESEARCH

In our work we used methods for analysis and data obtained from the monitoring of medical histories of pregnant women with a history of hypertension and other concomitant pathological conditions that did not directly affect the purity of the data. The methods used for the study were standard or partially modified according to the specifics of the topic under consideration in our work and the specifics of the research group of patients.

#### 2.1 Clinical characteristics of patients with hypertension

The study analyzed 730 case histories of pregnant women diagnosed with hypertension (AH) and selected 50 case histories for detailed analysis.

The mean age of patients was  $27.7 \pm 9.7$  years, among them were 203 (27.8%) women aged  $33.1 \pm 2.2$  years. According to statistics, in Europe women give birth for the first time at the age of  $28 \pm 3$  years, and in Ukraine -  $25 \pm 3$ . A normal physiological

pregnancy and the birth of a healthy child is possible in 85%, but it is important to be aware of what problems may arise and take the necessary measures.

According to the received analytical studies from all registered cases of pregnancy in 2021 complicated by edema, proteinuria and hypertensive disorders is 6.4 per 100 pregnancies, including cases of preeclampsia is 2.13 per 100 pregnancies, of which 11.9% are severe forms of preeclampsia and eclampsia, which is 0.25 per 100 pregnancies.

In most cases, high blood pressure, proteinuria and edema (preeclampsia) disappear in the days following childbirth or abortion. Women who have had pregnancy-related hypertension are at risk for developing hypertension later in life.

#### 2.2 Materials and methods of research

Modern scientific developments in the monitoring, prevention and medical treatment of pregnant women with hypertension indicate that in the first place the doctor takes into account all the degrees of risk of adverse termination of pregnancy for mother and child. Up to 12 weeks, the issues of preservation, i.e., the possibility of pregnancy are resolved. In the case of pregnancy, it is important to constantly highly qualified observation in a specialized medical institution.

The following indicators were studied in the analyzed case histories: blood pressure, ultrasound of the uterus, kidneys and other abdominal organs, electrocardiography and echocardiography, creatinine, alanine aminotransferase (ALT) and aspartate aminotransferase (AST), creatine, urinary acid and urea. The most common concomitant pathologies in hypertension in pregnant women at different times have been identified.

Combinations in the pharmacotherapy of hypertension and means of lifestyle modification of patients are analyzed.

#### **2.3** Determination of average values in the experiment

During the study of samples and predictions of the experiment, calculations were performed, the data of which are given in this paper in the tables. Most often, the data obtained in studies were processed by mathematical statistics. First of all, the calculations were performed to obtain average mathematical values according to the standard formula 2.1.

$$\overline{a} = \frac{a_1 + a_2 + \dots + a_n}{n}$$
2.1

 $\bar{a}$  - average mathematical value;

 $a_1$ ,  $a_2$  i  $a_n$  - processed values;

*n* - the number of sample values.

If necessary, graphs and charts were built based on the calculated data.

#### SECTION 3 RESULTS OF OWN RESEARCH

The results of research on the case histories of women with arterial hypertension at different stages of pregnancy, different age categories, were the results presented in this section of our work.

#### **3.1** Analysis of the risks of hypertension in pregnant women

Despite the large number of antihypertensive drugs to date, effective pharmacotherapy of hypertension in pregnant women remains an urgent problem. The current clinical practice of the obstetrician-gynecologist proves that in pregnant women, especially in the second trimester, a combination of several somatic pathologies is quite common. Most often, hypertension in pregnant women is accompanied by such comorbidities as hepatic steatosis. chronic cholecystitis, chronic pancreatitis, nephrolithiasis, cardiosclerosis, etc. The question of the choice of rational pharmacotherapy in patients with comorbidity on the background of existing vascular pathology is acute. The combination of arterial hypertension, chronic kidney disease, liver steatosis, hepatitis and other pathologies in one patient forces us to emphasize the peculiarities of the management of such patients throughout pregnancy and for a long time in the postpartum period. The study provides an analysis of medical records of patients with comorbid pathologies, recommendations for the management of pregnant women with similar comorbid conditions. The presence of comorbid pathology in pregnant women requires more attention to the prescribed drugs with possible effects on the fetus, combinations should show minimal interaction, metabolic neutrality, positive effects on the damaged organ, which together will promote more effective treatment and minimize the risk of adverse reactions.

We analyzed laboratory parameters of biochemical analysis of blood in patients with hypertension. The data of the analysis are given in table 3.1 of this work.

Indicator	Average value	Laboratory reference
		values
Creatinine, µmol / 1	98,1±22,3	61-117
Urea, mmol / 1	6,7±4,2	2,5-8,3
AST, U / L	34,1±8,2	0-41
ALT, U / L	36,5±12,4	0-40
Uric acid, µmol / 1	364,7±102,1	200-420/140-340

Analysis of laboratory parameters in patients with hypertension

Thus, patients with hypertension had an average creatinine level of  $98.1 \pm 22.3 \mu mol / l$ , an average urea level of  $6.7 \pm 4.2 \text{ mmol} / l$  and an average uric acid level of  $364.7 \pm 102.1 \mu mol / l$ . The average level of ALT and AST was  $34.1 \pm 8.2 \text{ U} / \text{L}$  and  $36.5 \pm 12.4 \text{ U} / \text{L}$ , respectively.

The number of patients with hypertension who had certain indicators higher than the reference values was analyzed (Fig. 3.1).



Figure 3.1 - Frequency of exceeding the reference values of laboratory indicators of renal and hepatic function in pregnant women with hypertension.

Table 3.1.

In addition, an increase in creatinine levels was found in 38% of patients with hypertension, an increase in urea levels in 70% of pregnant women and a high level of uric acid in 30% of those examined.

Elevated transaminases were found in 15% of pregnant women with hypertension (AST) and 28% of patients with hypertension (ALT).

## 3.2 Risks of pregnant women with concomitant pathology of the urinary, hepatobiliary system and pathologies of the gastrointestinal tract

The use of statins is a long-term therapy, and during pregnancy and breastfeeding their appointment is possible only when the pregnant woman is well informed about the possible risks to the fetus. The teratogenic properties of statins are still poorly understood, but they remain contraindicated for pregnant women worldwide.

Among patients with hepatic steatosis, more than half (54%) have elevated transaminases, and patients with biliary tract disease have elevated transaminases and / or hyperbilirubinemia. Liver disease can alter drug kinetics. In hepatic insufficiency there is a decrease in the rate of metabolism of drugs that are biotransformed in the liver.

Drugs from the group of calcium channel blockers in pregnant women with impaired metabolic function of the liver there is a need for dose adjustment, as their metabolism occurs with the help of liver enzymes. From the group of ßblockers (BB) it is necessary to pay attention to propranolol - a drug that undergoes intensive presystemic metabolism, there is an increase in systemic bioavailability in patients with liver disease, which is associated with decreased metabolic activity of liver enzymes. Therefore, the dose should be adjusted (reduce the dose of the drug).

Increased creatinine levels in pregnant women with hypertension indicate impaired renal filtration, renal failure. In renal failure, disorders in the pharmacokinetics of drugs are manifested in increased blood concentrations of the drug, slow elimination of blood and decreased urinary excretion by the kidneys.

As a result, drugs prescribed for chronic renal failure should be used in smaller doses. The Cochrane Research Database indicates a similar nephroprotective effect of ACE inhibitors and ARBs. There is a need to reduce the dose of antihypertensive drugs. The nephroprotective effect of ACE inhibitors and ARBs has been proven and these groups of drugs are recommended for patients with renal disease [36]. The group of drugs - ACE inhibitors is contraindicated in pregnant and lactating women.

According to the ability to dissolve in water and fats, beta-blockers are divided into lipophilic and hydrophilic. The group of lipophilic beta-blockers includes metoprolol, betaxolol, propranolol, oxprenolol, pindolol, labetalol, they are mainly absorbed from the digestive tract, and the group of hydrophilic drugs such as sotalol, atenolol, nadolol. Drugs from the group of hydrophilic beta-blockers are unevenly and not completely absorbed from the digestive system, and excreted from the body by the kidneys and urine. Renal function is taken into account when prescribing hydrophilic beta-blockers, and the dose is reduced in patients with low GFR (less than 30–50 ml / min).

Amphiphilic BBs are soluble in fats and water (bisoprolol, celiprolol). Metabolism of lipophilic BB occurs mainly in the liver, which should be considered in pharmacotherapy of patients with liver disease, as well as in combination therapy with drugs inhibitors of microsomal liver enzymes.

Bisoprolol is an amphiphilic drug from the group of beta-blockers, scientific sources report greater safety in pharmacotherapy in patients with hypertension with concomitant liver and kidney disease, and studies indicate a low likelihood of interaction with drugs inhibitors of microsomal enzymes such as chlorine. , rifampicin and others. [37].

No dose adjustment is required during the treatment of patients with renal disease with CCB and ARBs as excretion occurs mainly by the liver.

For effective and safe therapy it is necessary to minimize the accumulation of active and potentially toxic metabolites in pregnant women with impaired renal and hepatic function.

# **3.3** Drug pharmacotherapy of arterial hypertension in pregnant women, combinations and possible interactions

It is known that none of the existing antihypertensive drugs is completely safe for the embryo and fetus. Given this, antihypertensive therapy in the first trimester of pregnancy (up to 13 weeks) is not recommended in any country in the world. Exceptions are patients with grade 3 hypertension and women who do not tolerate any increase in blood pressure. In the later stages of pregnancy, women with blood pressure 140/90-149/94 mm Hg. mostly also do not require treatment with antihypertensive drugs. Antihypertensive therapy is carried out when raising blood pressure to 150/95 mm Hg. and more. Prescribe the safest drugs for mother and fetus.

The frequency of administration of different groups of antihypertensive drugs was analyzed (Table 3.2).

Table 3.2

Group of drugs	Number of patients	%
ACE inhibitors	45	70
ССВ	5	8,33
ARB	1	1,67
BB	27	45
Diuretics	41	68,33

## Antihypertensive drugs used in the pharmacotherapy of patients with hypertension

After analyzing the pharmacotherapy of patients, we can conclude that such groups of drugs (Table 3.3) as ACE inhibitors (70% of appointments) and diuretics (68.3% of appointments) are drugs of choice for treatment, especially often prescribe drugs from these groups together or in the combined drug. In second place, BB, which

was prescribed in 45% of cases, CCB was prescribed to 8.3% of patients and ARB was prescribed in 1.7% of cases. According to the literature, the combination of ACE inhibitors or ARBs and diuretics has an economic advantage in terms of cost / effectiveness and is recommended for patients to optimize pharmacotherapy [47]. Such effectiveness of treatment in ordinary patients does not prove their rationality of appointment during pregnancy and breastfeeding women.

Consider possible methods of pharmacotherapy of pregnant women with hypertension.

According to recent studies, magnesium, ascorbic and folic acid, vitamin E, fish oil and garlic extract have no evidence of prevention of hypertension in pregnant women [48, 53]. Pregnant women with hypertension are advised to limit salt in the diet in accordance with existing recommendations.

Acetylsalicylic acid 75 mg / day is recommended for women at high risk of eclampsia from the second trimester of pregnancy to birth.

Antihypertensive therapy aimed at lowering or normalizing blood pressure does not prevent pregnancy complications in women with hypertension. Pregnant women with hypertension are advised to prescribe as few drugs as possible, especially antihypertensives. It is recommended that ACE inhibitors, angiotensin II receptor antagonists, statins and thiazide diuretics be discontinued as soon as possible if the woman is taking them before pregnancy.

In recent years, beta-blockers have become less common in pregnant women. Today it is known that these drugs can cause fetal delay, cause the threat of abortion (non-selective beta-blockers increase uterine tone), and in late pregnancy - to impaired postnatal adaptation of newborns.

Many countries around the world prefer to prescribe a non-selective blocker of alpha- and beta-adrenoceptors - labetalol. In Ukraine, labetalol is recommended for emergency care for pregnant women with hypertension. Labetalol, atenolol, metoprolol - recommended and considered safe for use during breastfeeding.

In pregnant women with hypertension, the appointment is contraindicated:

1. ACE inhibitors; when used in the first trimester of pregnancy in children 3 times more often congenital malformations (especially from the heart and nervous system); when used in the second and third trimesters of pregnancy, there is impaired renal function, dehydration, deformity of the facial skull, contractures, death of the fetus or newborn.

2. Angiotensin II receptor blockers; in many experiments the same adverse effects on the fetus and newborns as in ACE inhibitors are observed;

3. Diuretics; reduce the volume of circulating blood, which impairs the uteroplacental blood supply; strictly prohibited for eclampsia;

4. Reserpine medications; there are data on teratogenic effects, leading to reserpine symptom complex in newborns - gray skin, inhibition, stuffy nose, impaired breastfeeding) when taken in late pregnancy, especially in irrationally increased doses.
5. Progesterone; after the 36th week of pregnancy is contraindicated; causes a high risk of thrombosis in the second and third trimesters of pregnancy, has a high risk of congenital anomaly, penetrates into breast milk defects, including sexual in children of both sexes.

6. Low molecular weight heparins; in some cases, causes rapid (within 2-4 weeks) development of osteoporosis and spinal injuries.

At increase in BP to indicators higher than 170/110 mm of mercury. according to the existing recommendations prescribe labetalol, urapidil - intravenously, clonidine, nifedipine - sublingually or orally.

Sodium nitroprusside - remains the drug of choice, prescribed for a short time due to the risk of adverse effects of cyanides on the fetus.

Glyceryl trinitrate (nitroglycerin) is prescribed in case of severe preeclampsia complicated by pulmonary edema.

Magnesium sulfate is recommended for use during pregnancy under the conditions of prevention or relief of seizures, administered intravenously.

Women with severe gestational hypertension are recommended to conduct certain studies and treatments (Table 3.3)

Patients may be prescribed labetalol, nifedipine and possibly methyldopa.

Tactics of	pregnant	women	with	gestational	hyper	tension
I actics of	pregnant	women	***	Scolational	nyper	CHSION

	Degree of hyperemia		
	Hypertension Blood pressure 140 on 90 159 on 110 mm of mercury is severe	Severe hypertension blood pressure ≥160 / 110 mm Hg. Art.	
1	2	3	
Hospitalization	Do not hospitalize	Hospitalize	
Antihypertensive therapy	Pharmacotherapy should be prescribed if blood pressure remains above 140 by 90 mm Hg.	If blood pressure is less than 170/110 mm Hg., to lead the patient as in hypertension	

#### Continuation of Table 3.3

		Continuation of Table 5.5
1	2	3
Target BP	≤135/85 mm Hg.	≤135/85 mm Hg.
BP measurement	Once or twice a week	Every 15 minutes until
	(depending on blood	blood pressure is less than
	pressure) until blood	170/110 mm Hg.
	pressure reaches 135/85	
	mm Hg.	
Determination of	Once or twice a week	Every time hospitalize
proteinuria using indicator	(with blood pressure	
strips	measurement)	
Blood test	Determine the indicators	Determine the indicators
	of the general analysis of	of the general analysis of
	blood, liver and kidney	blood, liver and kidney
	function at the initial	function at the initial
	examination, then -	examination, then -
	weekly	weekly

PIGF-based testing	PIGF-1 testing should be	PIGF-1 testing should be
	performed if preeclampsia	performed if preeclampsia
	is suspected	is suspected
Fetal monitoring	Recommend auscultation	Recommend auscultation
	of the fetal heart at each	of the fetal heart at each
	reception.	reception.
		Ultrasound of the fetus at
		diagnosis and repeat every
		two weeks if severe
		hypertension persists.
		Perform cardiography
		only if clinically indicated.

All side effects and risks of complications of pharmacotherapy for the fetus should be considered when choosing drug therapy.

Labetalol has significant advantages over other b-blockers due to the presence of alpha-blocking properties (vasodilating effect), low penetration through the placenta. No neonates from mothers who started labetalol treatment between 6 and 13 weeks had congenital malformations. The most common side effects are headache and tremor.

Nifedipine may adversely affect the condition of the fetus when administered intravenously or sublingually or at high doses. Sudden or excessive hypotension may lead to decreased uterine-placental-fetal perfusion and therefore fetal distress.

Side effects of nifedipine (swelling of the legs, headache, blood flow to the head, redness of the skin, especially the face, tachycardia, dizziness) are more common in short-acting forms of the drug and are usually observed at the beginning of treatment. It should be borne in mind that the simultaneous use of nifedipine and magnesium sulfate can lead to uncontrolled hypotension, dangerous suppression of neuromuscular function.

Beta-blockers rarely adversely affect the condition of the fetus and newborn. Manifestations of this effect are fetal growth retardation, bradycardia, hypotension, hypoglycemia, respiratory depression. None of the b-blockers is teratogenic. The frequency of delayed fetal growth and low birth weight for gestational age is higher the shorter the treatment begins. Preference is given to b1-selective blockers (less affecting myometrial b2 receptors) and hydrophilic drugs (less penetrating the placenta). The main side effects of the mother - bradycardia, bronchospasm, dyspepsia, allergic skin reactions, increased contractile activity of the uterus and others. Withdrawal syndrome is typical.

Experience has shown that a significant improvement in maternal and infant termination of pregnancy in patients with hypertension can be achieved by normalizing the magnesium content in a woman's body from a relatively early stage of pregnancy and maintaining it at a sufficient level throughout pregnancy. At the same time there is an improvement in the patient's psycho-emotional state - the feeling of nervous tension, irritability, depression, feelings of anxiety, fear decreases or disappears; sleep improves. In women with a slight increase in blood pressure comes to its normalization. Significantly reduces the number of cases of PE, especially severe, early; miscarriage, fetal disorders, including intrauterine growth retardation. Children are born with more body weight, have better Apgar scores, they are less likely to have asphyxia, malnutrition and other diseases.

To normalize the magnesium content in the body, we use a magnesiumcontaining drug for oral administration - magnesium-B6, which is prescribed for 2 tablets or 10 ml of drinking solution (content of one ampoule) three times a day. This dose (corresponding to 300 mg of ionized magnesium) provides a normal level of magnesium in the vast majority of patients. If possible, magne-B6 treatment should be started from the 12th to the 14th week of pregnancy and continued throughout pregnancy in all women with hypertension.

Methyldopa - acts on the central mechanisms of blood pressure regulation; penetrates the blood-brain barrier; metabolized with the formation of  $\alpha$ methylnoradrenaline, which in the CNS stimulates postsynaptic  $\alpha$ -adrenoceptors of brainstem neurons, which, in turn, leads to suppression of the vasomotor center; hypotensive effect with long-term use is associated with a decrease in total peripheral vascular resistance; minute blood volume changes little; increases the rate of glomerular filtration and renal circulation, reduces the level of renin in blood plasma; also causes a moderate decrease in cardiac output and heart rate; the effect of the drug is manifested in 2 hours after application and lasts 24-48 hours.

Methyldopa is used to treat hypertension during pregnancy. There is no information about the risk to the fetus with this treatment. Reproductive studies were performed in mice, rats and rabbits using doses that were 1.4, 0.2 and 1.1 times higher than recommended for humans. No negative effect on the fruit was observed. Methyldopa penetrates the placenta to obtain a concentration in the fetus similar to the level in maternal serum.

The Collaborative Perinatal Project monitored only 1 mother-child couple with methyldopa exposure in the first trimester; congenital malformations were not detected.

The Michigan Medicaid recipients monitoring study, which covered 229,101 completed pregnancies between 1985 and 1992, identified 242 newborns exposed to methyldopa in the first trimester of pregnancy. 11 (4.5%) major congenital malformations were registered with an expected 10. Specific data are available for 6 categories of congenital malformations (detected / expected): 1/2 congenital malformations of the cardiovascular system, 1/1, polydactyly, 0/0 spinal cleft, 1/0 facial cleft, 0/0 limb reduction defect, 0/1 hypospadias. These data do not support the association between birth defects and the drug.

After exposure to methyldopa in the first trimester, a decrease in intracranial volume was observed. Examination at the age of 4 did not show an association between smaller head size and mental retardation in children.

A review of 1,157 pregnant women with hypertension did not show an adverse effect of methyldopa treatment. Reported a decrease in systolic pressure by 4-5 mm Hg in 24 infants in the first 2 days after birth.

In one case of taking methyldopa by the mother during pregnancy, a child was born with the following congenital malformations: congenital heart disease, no left kidney, hypospadias. The mother also took clomiphene (a *synthetic ovulation stimulant*) in the first trimester. According to high-level clinical guidelines, the alpha-blocker prazosin and the central adrenoceptor antagonist clonidine are acceptable during pregnancy (Table 3.4).

#### Table 3.4

Drug	Initial / maintenance dose	Comment
Methyldopa	125-250 mg / 250-500 mg	There are no data on the
	2-4 times a day (max. 2 g /	maintenance of loading doses of
	d)	methyldopa
Nifedipine	20-30 mg / 60-120 mg	Confidence that the correct dose
	(max. 120 mg / d)	of nifedipine has been chosen
Labetalol	100 mg / 200-400 mg 2-4	Contraindicated in
	times a day (max. 2.4 g / d)	bronchoobstructive diseases
Prozazine	0.5 mg / 1 mg (max. 20 mg	Preferably used for
	/ d)	pheochromocytoma, not
		recommended for childbirth

Oral drugs for antihypertensive therapy in pregnant women

In hypertensive crisis, preference is given to labetalol (IV) and / or urapidil (table 3.5)

#### Table 3.5

Drugs	Dose and method of	Features of application	
	administration	reactines of appreciation	
Urapidil	1-5 ml (5-25 mg) of intravenous urapidil intravenously or 6.25 mg slowly intravenously (for 2 minutes) and then 3-24 mg per hour (using a syringe pump). Maintenance therapy for perfusor - 4 ml of uropidil + 40 ml of 0.9% sodium chloride solution 6-9 mg / hour	Use urapidil 25 mg 5 ml syringe stickers. If after the initial intravenous administration of the drug (25 mg) for two minutes, blood pressure is not reduced by repeated injections (25 mg), you can repeat twice	
Labetalol	Initial dose 20 mg (4 ml) for two minutes, maximum 80 mg or 1 to 2 mg / minute, maximum 300 mg. Titrate to stabilize blood pressure by adjusting the injection, every 30 minutes to 32 ml / hour maximum 160 mg / hour)	Use Labetalol 100 mg 20 ml syringe stickers. Contraindicated in patients with asthma, heart disease or congestive heart failure	
In resistant hypertension, intravenous clonidine or glycerol trinitrate (nitroglycerin) may be used			

### **Emergency drugs for hypertensive crisis in pregnant women** [1, 46]

In the case of joining preeclampsia, the tactics are chosen according to its severity. In the vast majority of cases, childbirth is performed through the natural birth canal. During childbirth provide strict control of blood pressure and heart rate of the mother, monitoring the condition of the fetus.

Drug antihypertensive therapy is started if BP is 160/110 mm Hg. (A), and it is desirable not to reduce blood pressure less than 130/90 mm Hg. for the treatment of hypertension during childbirth use means safe for the fetus and newborn. It is advisable to anesthetize labor in the I and II periods of childbirth (effective prevention of hypertension). The method of choice of anesthesia is epidural anesthesia. In case of impossibility of carrying out epidural anesthesia non-narcotic analgesics, sedatives, fentanyl are used.

In the postpartum period provide careful supervision of a physician (cardiologist), daily blood pressure monitoring, fundus examination, determination of proteinuria, blood tests for creatinine. Preliminary antihypertensive treatment is continued. Lactation is not excluded. Contraindications to lactation and breastfeeding: malignant hypertension, severe damage to target organs. Temporary contraindication - uncontrolled hypertension.

Maternal antihypertensive drug therapy does not interfere with breastfeeding. It is not recommended to use atenolol, clonidine, angiotensin II receptor blockers during lactation. From the group of angiotensin-converting enzyme inhibitors, captopril or enalapril are preferred, they should be prescribed not earlier than 1 month after delivery. It is important to remember that diuretics reduce the amount of breast milk.

Patients with hypertension have pathologies of the hepatobiliary system (51.67%) and urinary system (30%), which increases the number of prescribed drugs (Table 3.4)

Pharmacotherapy of	patients with	hypertension an	nd comorbidity.
1.4	1		

The active	Group	Specifics
substance of the		
drug		
Mebeverine	Anticholinergic agent	No interaction study was performed.
hydrochloride		
Domperidone	Dopamine antagonist.	Domperidone is metabolized
	Stimulator of	predominantly by CYP3A4.
	peristalsis	Contraindicated use with
		antiarrhythmic drugs of class IA and
		III. It is not recommended to use
		with the following CCB drugs:
		Felodipine, Bepridil, Diltiazem,
		Verapamil, as these drugs are
		metabolized by cytochrome P450
		CYP3A4 and are its inhibitors,
		which when co-administered with
		drugs dromperidone will cause an
		increase in the latter. It is not
		recommended to take at the same
		time in conditions characterized by
		impaired electrolyte composition of
		the blood. Use with caution with
		drugs from the group of loop and
		thiazide diuretics.
Ademethionine	Amino acids and their	No clinically significant interactions
	derivatives	with drugs for the treatment of
		hypertension.
Silymarin	Hepatoprotective	Silymarin is an inhibitor of
	drugs	cytochrome P450, it is possible to
		increase the effect of some drugs.
Ursodeoxycholic	Bile acids	Reduces Cmax (maximum plasma
acid		concentration) of calcium antagonist
		nitrendipine. There is an assumption
		that the drug is an inducer of
		cytochrome P450 3A4. Drugs that
		are metabolized by this enzyme
	<b>D</b>	require dose adjustment.
Medicines from	Drugs for the	Contains St. John's wort, which is an
cranberry leaves, St.	treatment of	inducer of cytochrome P-450, which
John's wort, rose	urological pathologies	reduces the effects of drugs used in
hips, grass trailers.		combination.

Aluminum phosphate	Antacid	It has a potassium content of 13.0 -
		14.6 mg / package (20 g of gel).
		Caution is prescribed to patients
		with renal pathology.
Powder from the	Enzyme drugs	No clinically significant interactions
pancreas.		were detected.

Enzyme drugs, anticholinergic drugs, dopamine antagonists, hepatoprotective drugs, antacids, bile acid drugs, drugs for the treatment of urological pathologies were prescribed to patients with hypertension and concomitant pathologies of the hepatobiliary and urinary system. Pharmacotherapy with domperidone was performed in 12%, 20% of patients took drugs of the active substance which was silymarin, 12% of pregnant women took a drug containing ursodeoxycholic acid and 22% took local anticides, which increases the risk of adverse drug interactions.

Most drugs do not have significant clinical interactions with drugs used to treat hypertension, but the following features have been identified: domperidone drugs are metabolized by hepatic enzymes - with potent CYP3A4 inhibitors QT interval changes are observed, used with caution with drugs that cause hypokalemia and thiazide diuretics) and bradycardia.

When analyzing the results, it is clear that timely detection of the risk of hypertension in pregnant women makes it possible to avoid abortion, perinatal mortality and effectively control blood pressure.

The conducted researches testify to high efficiency of the improved system of supervision and treatment-and-prophylactic measures at pregnant women with hypertension. Its use significantly reduces the number of cases of combined PE, especially severe and early. Due to this, there is a decrease in the number of premature births, significantly improves the condition of newborns (there were no cases of perinatal losses; children were born with a higher score on the Apgar scale and greater body weight). Given the fact that one third of PE cases in pregnant women in general, according to our data, is due to hypertension, widespread implementation of the developed system of surveillance and treatment and prevention measures will

significantly improve the end of pregnancy for mother and child not only in hypertension but also in population as a whole.

#### **Conclusions.**

- 1. Hypertension during pregnancy is registered in 8-10% of cases and significantly increases the risk of adverse events for both fetus and mother
- 2. Hypertension in pregnant women can be corrected with pharmacotherapy and lifestyle modifications healthy eating, weight control, salt reduction in the diet, physical activity.
- 3. Initial therapy of hypertension is one of the available antihypertensive drugs: methyldopa; beta-blockers; and nifedipine with control of excessive blood pressure reduction. In hypertensive crisis, labetalol (IV) and / or urapidil are preferred.
- 4. All side effects and risks of complications of pharmacotherapy for the fetus should be considered when choosing drug therapy.

#### PRACTICAL RECOMMENDATIONS

1. When using drugs for the treatment of hypertension during pregnancy, the target blood pressure is 135/85 mm Hg.

2. For the treatment of chronic hypertension in pregnant women should consider the use of labetalol, if there are contraindications to it, you should consider taking a drug from the group of calcium channel blockers or methyldopa.

3. The high risk of teratogenicity of most antihypertensive drugs requires the doctor to use a limited list of drugs with the use of non-drug therapy, i.e., modification of the lifestyle of pregnant women.

4. The prognosis depends on the level of blood pressure and the presence of complications in pregnant women. Timely start of adequate treatment of hypertension contributes to a good prognosis.

5. The best prevention of hypertension is a healthy lifestyle and diet, as well as the elimination of existing risk factors.

#### REFERENCES

1.American College of Obstetricians and Gynecologists, Task Force onHypertension in Pregnancy: Hypertension in pregnancy. Доповідь Американськоїколегії акушерів та гінекологів «Цільова група гіпертонії під час вагітності».ObstetGynecol122(5):1122–1131,2013.doi:10.1097/01.AOG.0000437382.03963.88

2. Німецька ліга боротьби із гіпертонією e.V. DHL®

3. Німецьке товариство боротьби з гіпертензією та її профілактика http://www.hochdruckliga.de/

4. Герольд Герд: Внутрішня медицина. Кельн, самвидав 2012

5. Араште К.; Бенклер, Х.-В. ; Бібер, С.; та ін:. Внутрішня медицина. Штутгарт, вид. Георг Тімі КG 2009.

6. Cantwell R., Clutton-Brock T., Cooper G. et al. (2011) Saving mothers' lives: reviewing maternal deaths to make motherhood safer: 2006–2008. The Eighth Report of the Confidential Enquiries into Maternal Deaths in the United Kingdom. BJOG, 118: 1–203.

7. Cífková R., Johnson M.R., Kahan T. et al. (2020) Peripartum management of hypertension: a position paper of the ESC Council on Hypertension and the European Society of Hypertension. Eur. Heart J. — Cardiovascular Pharmacotherapy, pvz082 (https://doi.org/10.1093/ehjcvp/pvz082).

8. Ponikowski P., Voors A.A., Anker S.D. et al. (2016) ESC Scientific Document Group. 2016 ESC Guidelines for the diagnosis and treatment of acute and chronic heart failure: the Task Force for the diagnosis and treatment of acute and chronic heart failure of the European Society of Cardiology (ESC) Developed with the special contribution of the Heart Failure Association (HFA) of the ESC. Eur. Heart J., 37: 2129–2200.

9. Regitz-Zagrosek V., Roos-Hesselink J.W., Bauersachs J. et al. (2018) ESC Scientific Document Group. 2018 ESC Guidelines for the management of cardiovascular diseases during pregnancy. Eur. Heart J., 39: 3165–3241. 10. Shields L. E., Wiesner S., Klein C. et al. (2016) Early standardized treatment of critical blood pressure elevations is associated with a reduction in eclampsia and severe maternal morbidity. Am. J. Obstet Gynecol., 216: 415.e1–415.e5.

11. International Society of Hypertension (2020) Hypertension Clinical Practice Guidelines (ISH, 2020). Medscape, May 29.

12. Unger T., Borghi C., Charchar F. et al. (2020) 2020 International Society of Hypertension Global Hypertension Practice Guidelines. Hypertension, 75(6): 1334–1357. doi: 10.1161/HYPERTENSIONAHA.120.15026.

13. Elevating Hypertension Public Health on the Agenda. The World Heart Federation. URL: https://www.world-heart-federation.org/news/elevatinghypertension-public-health-agenda/. (дата звернення: 22.01.2021).

14. Zhang R.M., McNerney K.P., Riek A.E., Bernal-Mizrachi C. Immunity and Hypertension. *Acta Physiol (Oxf)*. 2021. 231(1) : e13487. DOI:10.1111/apha.13487.

15. Jordan, J., Kurschat, C., & Reuter, H. Arterial Hypertension. *Deutsches Arzteblatt international*. 2018. Vol. 115, No 33-34. P. 557–568. DOI: https://doi.org/10.3238/arztebl.2018.0557.

16. American Society of Hypertension, 20th Scientific Meeting, 14-18 May, 2005.

17. Коваленко В.М. Свіщенко Є.П., Сіренко Ю.М. Настанова з артеріальної гіпертензії. – Київ : МОРІОН, 2010. – С. 262–269.

18.Сіренко Ю.М. Артеріальна гіпертензія: виявлення та стратифікаціяризику.Практична ангіологія.2005.вип.1(1).https://angiology.com.ua/ua/archive/2005/1%281%29/article-13/arterialna-gipertenziya-viyavlennya-ta-stratifikaciya-riziku.

19. Unger T., Borghi C., Charchar F. et al. 2020 International Society of Hypertension Global Hypertension Practice Guidelines. *Hypertension*. 2020. Vol. 75, No 6, P. 1334–1357. DOI: 10.1161/HYPERTENSIONAHA.120.15026.

20. Williams B. et. al. 2018 ESC/ESH Guidelines for the management of arterial hypertension. *European Heart Journal*, 2018. Vol. 39. P. 3021-3104. DOI: 10.1093/eurheartj/ehy339.

21. Chow C. K., Teo K. K., Rangarajan S., et al. PURE Study Investigators. Prevalence, awareness, treatment, and control of hypertension in rural and urban communities in high-, middle-, and low-income countries. *JAMA*, 2013. Vol. 310. P. 959-968.

22. Piepoli M., Hoes A.W., Agewell S., et al. 2016 European Guidelines on cardiovascular disease prevention in clinical practice: The Sixth Joint Task Force of the European Society of Cardiology and Other Societies on Cardiovascular Disease Prevention in Clinical Practice. *Eur Heart J.* 2016. Vol. 37, No. 29. P. 2315-2381.

23. Kearney P. M., Whelton M., Reynolds K., Muntner P., Whelton P. K., HeJ. Global burden of hypertension: analysis of worldwide data. *Lancet*, 2005. Vol. 365.P. 217-223.

24. Mills, K. T. et al. Global disparities of hypertension prevalence and control: a systematic analysis of population-based studies from 90 countries. *Circulation*. 2016. Vol. 134, P. 441–450.

25. NCD Risk Factor Collaboration. Worldwide trends in blood pressure from 1975 to 2015: a pooled analysis of 1479 population-based measurement studies with 19.1 million participants. *Lancet*, 2017. Vol. 389. P. 37-55. DOI: 10.1016/S0140-6736(16)31919-5.

26. World Health Organization. Global Health Observatory: raised blood pressure. URL:

http://www.who.int/gho/ncd/risk\_factors/blood\_pressure\_prevalence\_text/en/.

27. World Health Organization. Interactive chart: Raised blood pressure, 2008.

28. Візір В.А., Деміденко О.В., Гончаров О.В., Полякова Г.В. Гіпертонічна хвороба. Вторинні артеріальні гіпертензії. *Нейроциркуляторна дистонія*: навчальний посібник до практичних занять з внутрішньої медицини для студентів 5 курсу медичних факультетів /– Запоріжжя: ЗДМУ, 2018. – 100 с. 29. Горопко О. Ю. Ожиріння та артеріальна гіпертензія: сучасні погляди на патогенез, діагностику та лікування. *Сімейна медицина*. 2019. №2. С. 18-24. URL: http://family-medicine.com.ua/article/view/174626.

30. Артеріальна гіпертензія. Оновлена та адаптована клінічна настанова, заснована на доказах 2012 : Наказ МОЗ України від 24.05.2012 № 384"Про затвердження та впровадження медико-технологічних документів зі стандартизації медичної допомоги при артеріальній гіпертензії". URL: http://www.mif-ua.com/archive/article/31116.

31. De Marco V.G., Aroor A.R., Sowers J.R. The pathophysiology of hypertension in patients with obesity. *Nat Rev Endocrinol*. 2014. Vol. 10. P. 364–376. DOI: 10.1038/nrendo.2014.44

32. Lip S., Padmanabhan S. Genomics of Blood Pressure and Hypertension:
Extending the Mosaic Theory Toward Stratification. *Can J Cardiol.* 2020 May. Vol.
36, No 5. P. 694-705. DOI: 10.1016/j.cjca.2020.03.001.

33. Ehret G.B, Caulfield M.J. Genes for blood pressure: an opportunity to understand hypertension. *Eur Heart J.* 2013. Vol. 34. P. 951-61.

34. Padmanabhan S., Dominiczak A.F. Genomics of hypertension: the road to precision medicine. *Nat Rev Cardiol*. 2020. 20. DOI: 10.1038/s41569-020-00466-4.

35. Junker R. et. al. Hemostasis in normotensive and hypertensive men: results of the PROCAM study. The prospective cardiovascular Münster study. *Journal of Hypertension*. 1998. Vol. 16, Issue 7. P. 917–923. DOI: http://doi.org/10.1097/00004872-199816070-00004.

36. Woodward M. et. al. Epidemiology of coagulation factors, inhibitors and activation markers: The Third Glasgow MONICA Survey. II. Relationships to cardiovascular risk factors and prevalent cardiovascular disease. *British Journal of Haematology*. 1997. Vol. 97, No 4. P. 785–797. DOI: http://doi.org/10.1046/j.1365-2141.1997.1232935.x.

37. Makris T. K. et. al. Haemostasis balance disorders in patients with essential hypertension. *Thrombosis Research*. 1997. Vol. 88, No 2. P. 99–107. DOI: http://doi.org/10.1016/s0049-3848(97)00222-3.

38. Rucker J., Crowley S.D. The role of macrophages in hypertension and its complications. *Pflugers Arch.* 2017. Vol. 469, No 3-4. P. 419-430. DOI: 10.1007/s00424-017-1950-x.

39. Agita A., Alsagaff M T. Inflammation, Immunity, and Hypertension. *Affiliations expand*. 2017. No 49 (2). P. 158-165.

40. Rothman A.M., MacFadyen J., Thuren T., Webb A., Harrison D.G., Guzik T.J., Libby P., Glynn R.J., Ridker P.M. Effects of Interleukin-1β Inhibition on Blood Pressure, Incident Hypertension, and Residual Inflammatory Risk: A Secondary Analysis of CANTOS. *Hypertension*. 2020. Vol. 75, No (2). P. 477-482. DOI: 10.1161/HYPERTENSIONAHA.119.13642.

41. Guyton A.C. Blood pressure controlspecial role of the kidneys and body fluids. *Science*. 1991. Vol. 252, P.1813-1816.

42. Сучасні класифікації та стандарти лікування захворювань внутрішніх органів. Невідкладні стани в терапії: довідник-посібник / за ред. Ю.М. Мостового; Вінниц. мед. ун-т ім. М.І. Пирогова. - 21-е вид., допов. і переробл. - Київ : Центр ДЗК, 2016. - 687 с.

43. Хиць А. ISH 2020: оновлені клінічні рекомендації, нова класифікація артеріальної гіпертензії та спрощена класифікація кардіоваскулярного ризику *Укр. Мед. Часопис.* 2020. [Електронна публікація] | www.umj.com.ua.

44. Коваленко В.М., Корнацький В.М. Хвороби системи кровообігу як медико-соціальна і суспільно-політична проблема: Аналітично-статистичний посібник. Київ. 2014. 279 с.

45. Коробка О. Практичні рекомендації щодо ведення пацієнтів з артеріальною гіпертензією. *Кардіологія, Ревматологія, Кардіохірургія*. 2020. № 4 (71).

46. Рекомендації Європейського товариства кардіологів (European Society of Cardiology, ESC) і Європейського товариства гіпертензії (European Society of Hypertension, ESH) з лікування артеріальної гіпертензії 2018 р. / Переклад О. Сіренко. *Артериальная гипертензия*. 2018. Том 5, № 61. С. 58-156.

47. Коваль С.М. Сучасна стратегія лікування артеріальної гіпертензії та профілактики її ускладнень у світлі нових європейських рекомендацій 2018 року. *Раціональна фармакотералія*. 2019. 1-2(50-51). С. 11-18.

48. Cicero AFG, Grassi D., Tocci G., Galletti F., Borghi C., Ferri C. Nutrients and nutraceuticals for the management of high normal blood pressure: an evidence-based consensus document. *High Blood Press Cardiovasc Prev.* 2019. Vol. 26. P. 9–25.

49. Долженко М.М. Як знайти оптимальне рішення у виборі терапії артеріальної гіпертензії в пацієнта із поєднаною патологією. *Кардіологія, Ревматологія, Кардіохірургія*. 2019. № 6 (67).

50. Franchini, M., Liumbruno, G. M., Bonfanti, C., & Lippi, G. (2016). The evolution of anticoagulant therapy. *Blood transfusion = Trasfusione del sangue*. Vol.14, No.2. P.175–184. DOI: https://doi.org/10.2450/2015.0096-15

51. Lichota A., Szewczyk E.M., Gwozdzinski K. Factors Affecting the Formation and Treatment of Thrombosis by Natural and Synthetic Compounds. *Int J Mol Sci.* 2020. Vol. 21(21):7975. DOI: 10.3390/ijms21217975.

52. McRae H.L., Militello L., Refaai M.A. Updates in Anticoagulation Therapy Monitoring. *Biomedicines*. 2021. 6;9(3):262. DOI: 10.3390/biomedicines9030262.

53. Fareed J., Hoppensteadt D.A., Fareed D., Demir M., Wahi R., Clarke M., Adiguzel C., Bick R. Survival of heparins, oral anticoagulants, and aspirin after the year 2010. *Semin Thromb Hemost*. 2008. Feb 34, No 1. P. 58-73. DOI: 10.1055/s-2008-1066025.

54. Chan N.C., Paikin J.S., Hirsh J., Lauw M.N., Eikelboom J.W., Ginsberg J.S. New oral anticoagulants for stroke prevention in atrial fibrillation: impact of study design, double counting and unexpected findings on interpretation of study results and conclusions. *Thromb Haemost.* 2014. Vol. 5, No 111(5). P. 798-807.

55. Di Minno A., Frigerio B., Spadarella G., Ravani A., Sansaro D., Amato M., Kitzmiller J.P., Pepi M., Tremoli E., Baldassarre D. Old and new oral

anticoagulants: Food, herbal medicines and drug interactions. *Blood Rev.* 2017. 31(4). P. 193-203.

56. Samad F., Ruf W. Inflammation, obesity, and thrombosis. *Blood*. 2013. Vol. 122, No 20, P. 3415-3422. DOI: 10.1182/blood-2013-05-427708.

57. Chatterjee M., Ehrenberg A., Toska L.M, Metz L.M., Klier M., Krueger I., Reusswig F., Elvers M. Molecular Drivers of Platelet Activation: Unraveling Novel Targets for Anti-Thrombotic and Anti-Thrombo-Inflammatory Therapy. *Int J Mol Sci.* 2020. Vol. 21(21):7906. DOI: 10.3390/ijms21217906.

58. Roger K. Pharmacokinetics and dosage adjustment in patients with renal dysfunction / Roger K. Verbeeck & Flora T. Musuamba // Eur J Clin Pharmacol. – 2009. – V. 65. – P. 757–773.

59. Causes of death 2008: data sources and methods [Електронний ресурс] // Department of Health Statistics and Informatics World Health Organization, Geneva. – 2011. – Режим доступу до ресурсу: https://www.who.int/healthinfo/global\_ burden\_disease/cod\_2008\_sources\_methods.pdf.

60. Treatment steps for hypertension. // National Institute for Health and Care Excellence.  $-2020. - N_{2}2.$ 

61. Ю.М. Сіренко. Роль інгібіторів ангіотензинперетворюючого ферменту в сучасному лікуванні серцево-судинних захворювань [Електронний pecypc] / Ю.М. Сіренко // ННЦ Інститут кардіології імені М.Д. Стражеска. – 2006. – Режим доступу до ресурсу: https://rpht.com.ua/ua/archive/2006/1%281%29/article-4/rol-ingibitorivangiotenzinperetvoryuyuchogo-fermentu-v-suchasnomu-likuvanni-sercevo-sudinnihzahvoryuvan

62. Державний формуляр лікарських засобів. 4-й вип. — К., 2012;

63. АРТЕРІАЛЬНИЙ ТИСК І АРТЕРІАЛЬНА ГІПЕРТЕНЗІЯ // Державна наукова установа "Науково-практичний центр профілактичної і клінічної медицини" – Режим доступу до ресурсу: http://clinic.gov.ua/?p=5798 64. Кобалава Ж.Д., Шаварова Е.К. (2008) Место антагонистов рецепторов к ангиотензину II в современных рекомендациях. Сердце, 7(5): 270–274.

65. OXFORDMEDICAL PUBLICATIONS OxfordHandbook of Clinical Pharmacy Second edition Edited by Philip Wiffen, Marc Mitchell, Melanie Snelling, Nicola Stoner. – 2019. – 376-377

66. Мухин Н.А., Козловская Л.В., Фомин В.В., Милованов Ю.С. Исследование MDRD: значение для клинической нефрологии // Клиническая нефрология. – 2013. – № 4. – С. 4-7.

67. Consortium Chronic Kidney Disease Prognosis, Matsushita K., van der Velde M., Astor B.C., Woodward M., Levey A.S. et al. Association of cardiovascular mortality in general population cohorts: a collaborative meta-analysis. Lancet. – 2010. 375 (9731). – 2073-81. doi:

68. Смирнов А.В., Шилов Е.М., Бобкова И.Н. и др. Национальные рекомендации. Хроническая болезнь почек: основные положения, определение, диагностика, скрининг, подходы к профилактике и лечению. Материалы Национальной конференции по организации нефрологической помощи в РФ, 2011.

69. Моисеев В.С., Мухин Н.А., Кобалава Ж.Д. и др. Функциональное состояние почек и прогнозирование сердечно-сосудистого риска // Кардиоваскулярная терапия и профилактика. – 2008. –№ 7 (6).

70. New Equation to Estimate Glomerular Filtration Rate / [A. Levey, L. Stevens, C. Schmid et al.] // Ann Intern Med. – 2009. – N 150. – P. 604–612.

71. Скляров О. Я. Біологічна хімія : підручник / О. Я. Скляров, Н. В. Фартушок, Т. І. Бондарчук. — Тернопіль : ТДМУ, 2015. — 706 с.

1016/S0140-6736(10)60674-5. 10. Моисеев В.С., 72. Мухин Н.А., Кобалава Ж.Д. Основные др. положения проекта рекомендаций И Всероссийского научного общества нефрологов России оценке по функционального больных сердечно-сосудистыми состояния почек y

заболеваниями или с повышенным риском их развития // Кардиоваскулярная терапия и профилактика. – 2008. – № 4. – С. 8-20

73. Calvino J., Calvo C., Romero R. et al. Atherosclerosis profile and microalbuminuria in essential hypertension. // Am J Kidney Dis. – 1999. – V. 34. – №.
6. – P. 996-1001.

74. Moore M, Eggers P. Minorities have the highest incidence of end stage kidney disease in the U.S. // J Hypertens. -1993. - V. 21. - P. 591.

75. UK Prospective Diabetes Study (UKPDS) Group. Tight blood pressure control and risk of macrovascular and microvascular complications in type 2 diabetes. UKPDS 38. – Br Med J. – 1998. – 317. – P. 705-13.